#### File Ref.: HWF CR 1/5691/00(05)

#### LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL BRIEF

Adoption Ordinance (Chapter 290)

Adoption (Amendment) Rules 2005
Convention Adoption Rules
Intercountry Adoption (Contracting States) Order
Convention Adoption (Exclusion) Order
Adoption (Amendment) Ordinance 2004 (Commencement) Notice

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Arising from the enactment of the Adoption (Amendment) Ordinance 2004 (the Amendment Ordinance) in July 2004, the following subsidiary legislation of the Adoption Ordinance (Cap.290) (the Ordinance) have been made:

- (a) the Adoption (Amendment) Rules 2005 at <u>Annex A</u> and the Convention Adoption Rules at <u>Annex B</u> as made by the Chief Justice under section 12 of the Ordinance; and
- (b) the Intercountry Adoption (Contracting States) Order at Annex C and the Convention Adoption (Exclusion) Order at Annex D and as made by the Secretary for Health, Welfare and Food (SHWF) under sections 20D and 20J of the Ordinance as added by section 25 of the Amendment Ordinance.
- 2. Moreover, the Adoption (Amendment) Ordinance 2004 (Commencement) Notice, at <u>Annex E</u>, has been made by SHWF to indicate that the Amendment Ordinance will commence on 25 January 2006.

#### **JUSTIFICATIONS**

- 3. We enacted legislative amendments to the Ordinance in July 2004 to implement the Convention on Protection of Children and Cooperation in respect of Intercountry Adoption (the Convention), signed by the Central People's Government (CPG) in 2000, in Hong Kong and to improve certain local adoption arrangements.
- 4. The CPG ratified the Convention on 16 September 2005,

indicating the Convention will take effect in China, including the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (HKSAR), on 1 January 2006.

5. We would therefore need to commence the Amendment Ordinance and enact the necessary subsidiary legislation under the Ordinance to tie in as far as practicable with the effective date of the Convention in HKSAR.

#### THE AMENDMENT RULES, NEW RULES AND ORDERS

## Adoption (Amendment) Rules 2005 and Convention Adoption Rules

- 6. Section 12 of the Ordinance provides that the Chief Justice may make rules to prescribe and deal with matters of procedure and incidental matters arising out of the Ordinance. At present, such procedural and incidental matters are set out in the Adoption Rules (Cap. 290 sub.leg. A), which provides mainly for the court procedures of applying for adoption order in respect of local adoptions.
- 7. Arising from the Amendment Ordinance, we would need to amend the existing Adoption Rules and to introduce a new set of Convention Adoption Rules to specify the court procedures to deal with the following:
  - (a) removal orders to be applied by the Director of Social Welfare (DSW) for infants to leave Hong Kong for the purpose of adoption (section 23B of the Ordinance (section 30 of the Amendment Ordinance));
  - (b) intercountry adoptions made under the Convention (i.e. Convention adoptions). Sections 20A to 20J of the Ordinance (section 25 of the Amendment Ordinance) as well as sections 27 to 29D of the Ordinance (section 32 of the Amendment Ordinance) refer; and
  - (c) intercountry adoptions made with countries other than the Contracting States of the Convention (i.e. non-Convention adoptions). Sections 27 to 29D of the Ordinance (section 32 of the Amendment Ordinance) are relevant.

Details are set out below.

#### Adoption (Amendment) Rules 2005

8. The present set of Adoption Rules provides for the procedural and incidental matters for local adoptions only. As the application for an adoption order in respect of non-Convention adoptions will be processed in a similar manner as local adoptions because both the infant

and the applicant(s) for non-Convention adoptions will be required to reside in Hong Kong under section 5(6) of the Ordinance, we only need to make minor amendments to the Adoption Rules to allow for non-Convention adoptions as well. The changes are primarily to cater for the possibility that the birth parents or guardians for non-Convention adoptions may be residing overseas.

3

## **Convention Adoption Rules**

- 9. We have also introduced a new set of Convention Adoption Rules to provide for the court rules and procedures for handling Convention adoptions. While we would try to harmonize the rules for local/non-Convention adoptions and Convention adoptions as far as possible for administrative simplicity, the Convention Adoption Rules would have to cater for the following differences:
  - (a) the Central Authority<sup>1</sup>, Accredited Bodies and public authorities<sup>2</sup>, as required or permitted under the Convention, are involved;
  - (b) under the Convention, a Contracting State may make adoption orders when it acts as the State of Origin (when an infant of this State is to be adopted by a prospective adopter habitually residing elsewhere) or the Receiving State (when a prospective adopter of this State is applying to adopt an infant habitually resident outside this State)<sup>3</sup>. Hence, we have to provide for the possibility of processing and granting an adoption order in Hong Kong under both scenarios. In particular, some relevant parties (such as the infant, the prospective adoptive parent(s), the birth parent(s) and the guardian(s) (if any)) may live overseas and we may have to rely on the overseas Central Authority/Accredited Bodies/public authorities for assistance; and
  - (c) the Court of First Instance would be involved in Convention adoptions, whereas the District Court or the Court of First Instance may be involved in local/non-Convention adoptions.

<sup>1</sup> Each contracting state is required under Article 6 of the Convention to designate one or more Central Authorities to discharge the duties which are imposed by the Convention upon such authorities. They are mostly government departments overseeing adoption. For Hong Kong, the Director of Social Welfare will be designated as the Central Authority.

<sup>2</sup> Under Article 22(1) of the Convention, the functions of a Central Authority may be performed by public authorities or bodies accredited to the extent as permitted by the law of the State. For Hong Kong, welfare Non-Governmental Organizations may be accredited. We do not intend to appoint any public authorities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Article 2(1) of the Convention indicates that "The Convention shall apply where a child habitually resident in one Contracting State ("the State of origin") has been, is being, or is to be moved to another Contracting State ("the receiving State") either after his or her adoption in the State of origin by spouses or a person habitually resident in the receiving State, or for the purposes of such an adoption in the receiving State or in the State of origin."

## **Rules for Removal Orders**

10. Before enactment of the Amendment Ordinance, there is no express legislative provision in the Ordinance permitting a child to leave Hong Kong to be adopted overseas and DSW has to invoke the wardship jurisdiction of the High Court, which is in fact for protection of minors against injuries of any kind, for this purpose. Section 23B of the Ordinance (section 30 of the Amendment Ordinance) provides that the Court may make an order passing care and control of an infant to a person authorized by DSW for the adoption of the infant by an unrelated person not residing in Hong Kong. This is applicable to both Convention and non-Convention adoptions.

4

11. A new rule in both the Adoption (Amendment) Rules 2005 (Rule 31A) and the Convention Adoption Rules (Rule 17) provides for the detailed arrangements, by modelling on the existing wardship jurisdiction arrangements.

## Intercountry Adoption (Contracting States) Order

- 12. Section 20D of the Ordinance (section 25 of the Amendment Ordinance) provides that SHWF may, by order published in the Gazette, declare that a state specified in the order is a contracting state.
- 13. Under Article 44(3) of the Convention, a State ratifying the Convention may object to any acceding states, but not ratifying states<sup>4</sup>, of the Convention at the time of its ratification. As the CPG has not raised any objection upon ratification, we have listed all the existing ratifying and acceding states in the Order made by SHWF.

## Convention Adoption (Exclusion) Order

14. Article 39 of the Convention provides that any Contracting State may enter into derogatory agreements with one or more other Contracting States, with a view to improving the application of the Convention in their mutual relations. Article 25 of the Convention further provides that a Contracting State may declare that it will not be bound under this Convention to recognize adoptions made in accordance with an agreement concluded by application of Article 39. The CPG has made such a declaration for the HKSAR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For member states of the Hague Conference and those states participated in the negotiation of the Convention, they would have to sign the Convention and then ratify it. They are called ratifying states. For the other states which wish to become a Party to the Convention, they can only do so through accession and they are called acceding states.

15. Section 20J of the Ordinance (clause 25 of the Amendment Ordinance) stipulates that if the CPG has made a declaration to the effect that Hong Kong is not bound to recognize such adoptions, SHWF may by order published in the Gazette declare that such adoptions specified in the order shall be excluded from the meaning of 'Convention adoption' and are therefore not recognized by our legislation. The order has now been made accordingly.

## Adoption (Amendment) Ordinance 2004 (Commencement) Notice

16. Clause 1(2) of the Amendment Ordinance indicates that the Amendment Ordinance may come into operation on a day to be appointed by SHWF by notice published in the Gazette. To tie in with the commencement date of the subsidiary legislation as set out in paragraph 17 below, we have appointed 25 January 2006 to be the commencement date for the Amendment Ordinance.

#### LEGISLATIVE TIMETABLE

17. The legislative timetable is as follows –

Publication in the Gazette 16 December 2005

Tabling at the Legislative Council 21 December 2005

To allow sufficient time for the Legislative Council members to examine the subsidiary legislation, we have appointed 25 January 2006 as the commencement date.

#### IMPLICATIONS OF THE PROPOSAL

18. The legislative amendments are in conformity with the Basic Law, including the provisions concerning human rights. The relevant Rules, Order and Notice do not affect the current binding effect of the Ordinance. They have no economic, productivity or sustainability implications. They have financial and civil service implications as set out in Annex F.

## **PUBLIC CONSULTATION**

19. We have consulted the relevant law bodies, namely, the Law Society of Hong Kong, the Hong Kong Bar Association and the Hong Kong Family Law Association, as well as the Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs) providing or with an interest in adoption services <sup>5</sup> on the

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> They include the Mother's Choice, the International Social Service – Hong Kong Branch, Po Leung

Adoption (Amendment) Rules 2005 and the Convention Adoption Rules. We have also consulted the Judiciary. We have taken into account their comments in finalizing the provisions.

20. We also consulted the Panel on Welfare Services on 12 December 2005. They supported the legislative proposals and the proposed legislative timetable.

#### **PUBLICITY**

21. A press release will be issued on 16 December 2005. A spokesman will be available to answer media enquiries. Moreover, publicity materials will be prepared, e.g. website notifications to keep the public and the relevant parties informed of the commencement of the Amendment Ordinance and pamphlets for informing the public of the major changes.

#### **BACKGROUND**

#### The Convention

22. The Convention on Protection of Children and Cooperation in respect of Intercountry Adoption, concluded at the Hague on 29 May 1993 and currently in force in 66 countries, aims at establishing safeguards to ensure that intercountry adoptions are made in the best interests of the child and with respect for his or her fundamental rights; to establish a system of cooperation amongst Contracting States to ensure that those safeguards are respected and thereby preventing the abduction of, sale of, or trafficking in children; and to secure the recognition in Contracting States of adoptions made in accordance with its provisions.

## Adoption (Amendment) Ordinance 2004

- 23. We have been reviewing the Ordinance in the past few years. We enacted amendments to the Ordinance in July 2004 to :
  - (a) outlaw private arrangements for adoptions between unrelated persons;
  - (b) allow the NGOs duly accredited to be involved in local adoptions which have hitherto been handled by the Social Welfare Department alone;

Kuk, Caritas Hong Kong and Hong Kong Family Welfare Society. The first two are providing some intercountry adoption services at the moment.

- (c) enable Hong Kong to implement the Convention and to handle other intercountry adoptions outside the Convention as our earlier legislation did not provide for intercountry adoptions; and
- (d) regularize the procedures on removing infants out of Hong Kong for the purpose of adoptions. Hitherto, we have had to invoke the wardship jurisdiction of the High Court for this purpose.
- 24. The above amendments to the principal Ordinance have yet to take effect, pending the completion of the present amendments to the subsidiary legislation.

## **ENQUIRIES**

25. Any enquiries on this brief can be addressed to Ms Wendy Cheung, Assistant Secretary for Health, Welfare and Food (Family), at 2973 8127.

Health, Welfare and Food Bureau 14 December 2005

## Annex A

## **ADOPTION (AMENDMENT) RULES 2005**

## **CONTENTS**

Rule		Page
1.	Commencement	2
2.	Interpretation	2
3.	Rule added	
	2A. Application	2
4.	Proceedings to be disposed of in chambers	2
5.	Form of application	3
6.	Previous applications	3
7.	Director of Social Welfare to be guardian ad litem subject to rule 9	3
8.	Appointment of some other person as guardian ad litem	3
9.	Form of statement and consent	3
10.	Guardian ad litem to investigate all relevant circumstances	4
11.	Information to be confidential	4
12.	Heading amended	5
13.	Mode of application	5
14.	Notice of hearing	5
15.	Heading substituted	5
16.	Rule substituted	
	28. Service of documents	5
17.	Heading substituted	7
18.	Persons who may attest documents and declarations outside Hong Kong	7
19.	Heading and rule added	
	APPLICATIONS UNDER SECTION 23B OF THE ORDINANCE	
	31A. Application for an order passing care and control of infant	6
20.	Forms	8
21.	Additional matters subject to investigation and report by guardian ad litem	16

## **ADOPTION (AMENDMENT) RULES 2005**

(Made by the Chief Justice under section 12(1) of the Adoption Ordinance (Cap. 290))

### 1. Commencement

These Rules shall come into operation on 25 January 2006.

## 2. Interpretation

- (1) Rule 2(1) of the Adoption Rules (Cap. 290 sub. leg. A) is amended, in the Chinese text, in the definition of "申請人", by repealing the full stop and substituting a semicolon.
  - (2) Rule 2(1) is amended by adding –
  - ""adoption order" (領養令) means an adoption order other than a Convention adoption order;
    - "guardian ad litem" (訴訟監護人) means the guardian ad litem of an infant for the purposes of the application for an adoption order that relates to the infant;".
- (3) Rule 2(2) is amended, in the English text, by repealing "the First Schedule" and substituting "Schedule 1".

## 3. Rule added

The following is added –

## "2A. Application

These rules do not apply to or in relation to Convention adoption.".

## 4. Proceedings to be disposed of in chambers

(1) The heading of rule 4 is amended by repealing "**chambers**" and substituting "**private**".

(2) Rule 4 is amended by repealing everything after "Ordinance" and substituting "are to be disposed of in private.".

## 5. Form of application

Rule 5 is amended by adding "to the Court" after "made".

## 6. Previous applications

- (1) Rule 7 is amended by repealing "for an adoption order in respect" and substituting "to any court in Hong Kong for the adoption".
- (2) Rule 7 is amended by repealing "substantial" and substituting "material".

# 7. Director of Social Welfare to be guardian ad litem subject to rule 9

- (1) Rule 8(2) is amended, in the Chinese text, by repealing "\$2,840, 以 作為署長出任幼年人的訴訟監護人的適" and substituting "費用\$2,840, 以支付署長擔任幼年人的訴訟監護人的恰".
- (2) Rule 8(2) is amended, in the proviso, by repealing ", in his absolute discretion,".

# 8. Appointment of some other person as guardian ad litem

- (1) Rule 9(1) is amended by repealing "facts" and substituting "grounds for asking for such appointment".
- (2) Rule 9(1) is amended, in the Chinese text, by repealing "出任" where it twice appears and substituting "擔任".
- (3) Rule 9(2) is amended by repealing "in lieu of the Director" and substituting "in place of any person".

#### 9. Form of statement and consent

(1) Rule 10(2) is repealed and the following substituted –

- "(2) Any document signifying the consent of any person to the making of the order shall be exhibited to the affidavit and the consent
  - (a) if given by a parent of the infant, shall be in either Form 4, Form 4A or Form 4B (as may be appropriate);
  - (b) if given by
    - (i) a guardian of the infant; or
    - (ii) a person who is liable to contribute to the maintenance of the infant by virtue of any order or agreement,

shall be in Form 4; and

- (c) if given by a spouse of the applicant and
  - (i) the spouse is a parent of the infant, shall be in either Form 4, Form 4A or Form 4B (as may be appropriate);
  - (ii) the spouse is not a parent of the infant, shall be in Form 4.".
- (2) Rule 10(3) is repealed.

## 10. Guardian ad litem to investigate all relevant circumstances

Rule 13 is amended, in the English text, by repealing "the Second Schedule" and substituting "Schedule 2".

#### 11. Information to be confidential

(1) In the Chinese text, the heading of Rule 14 is repealed and the following substituted –

## "資料須保密".

(2) Rule 14 is amended by adding ", employee and member" after "officer".

## 12. Heading amended

The heading before rule 14A is amended, in the English text, by adding "OF THE ORDINANCE" after "SECTION 5(5D)".

## 13. Mode of application

- (1) Rule 14A(2) is amended by adding before subparagraph (a) –
- "(aa) if an application for a Convention adoption order is pending, in accordance with rule 14 of the Convention Adoption Rules (L.N. of 2005);".
- (2) Rule 14A(2)(a) is amended, in the English text, by repealing "pending" and substituting "pending,".
- (3) Rule 14A(2)(b) is amended by repealing "such application" and substituting "application referred to in subparagraphs (aa) and (a)".
  - (4) Rule 14A(3) is amended by repealing "in Chambers".

## 14. Notice of hearing

- (1) Rule 16(b) is amended by repealing "unless he is guardian ad litem" and substituting "(if he is not the guardian ad litem)".
- (2) Rule 16 is amended, in the English text, in the first proviso, by adding "the" before "notice".
- (3) Rule 16 is amended, in the English text, in the second proviso, by adding "the" before "notice".

## 15. Heading substituted

The heading before rule 27 is repealed and the following substituted – "DELEGATION BY DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL WELFARE".

#### 16. Rule substituted

Rule 28 is repealed and the following substituted –

### "28. Service of documents

- (1) Subject to paragraph (2), a document required to be served under these rules may be served
  - (a) in the case of an individual
    - (i) by delivering it to the individual personally;
    - (ii) by leaving it with some person for the individual at the individual's last known address or usual place of abode; or
    - (iii) by sending it to the individual by registered post addressed to the individual at the individual's last known address or usual place of abode;
  - (b) in the case of the Director
    - (i) by delivering it to him at his principal office; or
    - (ii) by sending it to him by registered post addressed to him at his principal office;
  - (c) in the case of a body of persons
    - (i) by delivering it to that body at that body's registered or principal office; or
    - (ii) by sending it to that body by registered post addressed to that body at that body's registered or principal office.
  - (2) Where a document is to be served on
    - (a) an individual whose last known address or usual place of abode is in a place outside Hong Kong; or
    - (b) a body of persons whose registered or principal office is in a place outside Hong Kong,

the document must be served in accordance with the law of that place.".

## 17. Heading substituted

The heading before rule 29 is repealed and the following substituted – "ATTESTATION OF DOCUMENTS".

# 18. Persons who may attest documents and declarations outside Hong Kong

- (1) The heading of rule 29 is amended, in the Chinese text, by repealing "或" and substituting "及".
- (2) Rule 29(c) is amended by repealing "any other place" and substituting "a place outside Hong Kong".
- (3) Rule 29(c)(iii) is amended, in the Chinese text, by repealing everything after "由" and before "誓" and substituting "該地方的法律在當其時授權為任何司法或其他法律目的監".

## 19. Heading and rule added

The following is added immediately after rule 31 –

"APPLICATIONS UNDER SECTION 23B OF THE ORDINANCE

## 31A. Application for an order passing care and control of infant

- (1) An application for an order under section 23B(1) of the Ordinance for passing the care and control of an infant to a person authorized by the Director may be made to the Court by the Director by an ex parte originating summons.
  - (2) The application shall be heard by a judge.
- (3) The application must be supported by an affidavit by the Director that sets out
  - (a) information on the infant's identity, adoptability, background, social environment, family history and medical history;
  - (b) details of the person authorized by the Director for the purposes of section 23B(1) of the Ordinance; and

- (c) the grounds for the Director's belief that the granting of the order will be in the best interests of the infant.
- (4) The following documents shall be exhibited to the affidavit
  - (a) the infant's birth certificate or any other proof of identity;
  - (b) order by which the Director was appointed as the legal guardian of the infant (if applicable);
  - (c) consent of every person whose consent is required by section 5(5)(a) of the Ordinance (if applicable);
  - (d) order declaring that the infant is freed for adoption under section 5A of the Ordinance (if applicable);
  - (e) copy of the infant study report;
  - (f) statement of acceptance for adoption signed by the prospective adopter;
  - (g) copy of the family study and assessment report of the prospective adopter; and
  - (h) letter of assumption of responsibility signed by the person referred to in paragraph (3)(b) stating that such person is responsible for the welfare of the infant while the infant is in the state to which the infant is intended to be sent and before the infant is adopted.
- (5) In this rule, "Court" (法院) means the Court of First Instance.".

## 20. Forms

- (1) The First Schedule is amended, in the English text, by repealing "FIRST SCHEDULE" and substituting "SCHEDULE 1".
  - (2) Schedule 1 is amended, in Form 1, in the Annex to Form 1
    - (a) by repealing "body\*)<sup>(2)</sup>" and substituting "body\*)<sup>(1)</sup>";

- (b) in the English text, by repealing "Character" and substituting "Commercial";
- (c) by repealing "Witness<sup>(1)</sup>" and substituting "Witness<sup>(2)</sup>";
- (d) by repealing the Note and substituting "Note:
  - (1) If the proposed adoption is processed by a body of persons accredited for local adoption under the Adoption Ordinance (Cap. 290), the applicant may insert the name of the accredited body as the recipient of the information.
  - (2) The witness should be a solicitor practising in Hong Kong, a notary public, or a registered social worker working with the Social Welfare Department or an accredited body accredited under the Adoption Ordinance (Cap. 290).".
- (3) Schedule 1 is amended, in Form 3
  - in the Chinese text, in paragraph 5, by repealing "經" where it twice appears and substituting "邑";
  - (b) in paragraph 14, by repealing "an Adoption Order in respect of the same or any other infant to any court [except an application made to the ..... court at" and substituting "the adoption of the same infant or any other infant in Hong Kong or elsewhere [except an application made to the ..... at";

- (c) in the Chinese text, in the Annex to Form 3
  - (i) by adding "或申請人等" before "的其他詳情";
  - (ii) by repealing "有何" where it twice appears and substituting "的";
- (d) in the Chinese text, in the Annex to Form 3, in note (1), by repealing "證件" and substituting "文件";
- (e) in the Annex to Form 3, by repealing note (3) and substituting
  - "(3) (a) If the infant has not been adopted, a birth certificate should be attached. If there is no such certificate, a certified copy of the document showing that the persons named in paragraphs 5, 6 and 7 have parental rights over the infant should be attached.
    - (b) If the infant has previously been adopted, do not attach the birth certificate. Instead, a certified copy of the entry in the Adopted Children Register should be attached. If there is no such entry, a certified copy of the document showing that the persons named in paragraphs 5, 6 and 7 have parental rights over the infant should be attached. In any case, the particulars given in paragraph 5 should relate to the parent(s) by adoption.".
- (4) Schedule 1 is amended, in Form 4 –

- (a) in the heading, by repealing "an adoption order in respect" and substituting "the adoption";
- (b) by repealing paragraph (1) and substituting
  - "(1) I understand that once the infant is adopted (whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere), a permanent parent-child relationship between the adopter and the infant will be created.";
- (c) by repealing paragraph (2) and substituting
  - "(2) I understand that when the application for the adoption of the infant is made, this document may be used as evidence of my consent to the adoption. (6)";
- (d) by repealing paragraph (3) and substituting
  - "(3) I hereby consent to the adoption of the infant by [C.D./C.D. and E.D.].";
- (e) by repealing note (3) and substituting
  - "(3) (a) If the infant has not been adopted, a birth certificate should be attached. If there is no such certificate, a certified copy of the document showing that the consenting party has parental rights over the infant should be attached.
    - (b) If the infant has previously been adopted, do not attach the birth certificate. Instead, a certified copy of the entry in the Adopted Children Register should be attached. If there is no such entry, a certified copy of the document showing that the consenting party has parental rights over the infant

should be attached; and the description of the consenting party should include the words "by adoption" or "經領養" where appropriate.";

- (f) in note (6), by repealing ", as mentioned in rule 29 of the Adoption Rules (Cap. 290 sub. leg. A)".
- (5) Schedule 1 is amended, in Form 4A
  - (a) in the heading, by repealing "an adoption order" and substituting "the adoption of an infant";

  - (c) by repealing paragraph (2) and substituting
    - "(2) I understand that when the application for the adoption of the infant is made, this document may be used as evidence of my consent to the adoption. (4)";
  - (d) by repealing note (3) and substituting
    - "(3) (a) If the infant has not been adopted, a birth certificate should be attached. If there is no such certificate, a certified copy of the document showing that the consenting party has parental rights over the infant should be attached.
      - (b) If the infant has previously been adopted, do not attach the birth

certificate. Instead, a certified copy of the entry in the Adopted Children Register should be attached. If there is no such entry, a certified copy of the document showing that the consenting party has parental rights over the infant should be attached; and the description of the consenting party should include the words "by adoption" or "經領養" where appropriate.";

- (e) in note (4), by repealing ", as mentioned in rule 29 of the Adoption Rules (Cap. 290 sub. leg. A)";
- (f) in note (6), by adding "if the application for the adoption order is made in Hong Kong" after "Rules".
- (6) Schedule 1 is amended, in Form 4B
  - (a) by repealing the heading and substituting –

    "Specific consent to the adoption of an infant named A.B. (1) by a step-parent (as sole applicant)";
  - (b) by repealing paragraph (1) and substituting
    - "(1) I understand that once the infant is adopted (whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere), a permanent parent-child relationship between the adopter and the infant will be created.";
  - (c) by repealing paragraph (2) and substituting
    - "(2) I understand that when the application for the adoption of the infant is made, this document may be used as evidence of my consent to the adoption. (7)";
  - (d) by repealing paragraph (3) and substituting –

"(3)	I hereby consent to the adoption of	f the
infant by	······ ,	

- (e) by repealing "foregoing statement and the effect of an adoption order" and substituting "foregoing statement and the effect of the infant being adopted by ......";
- (f) by repealing note (3) and substituting
  - "(3) (a) If the infant has not been adopted, a birth certificate should be attached. If there is no such certificate, a certified copy of the document showing that the consenting party has parental rights over the infant should be attached.
    - (b) If the infant has previously been adopted, do not attach the birth certificate. Instead, a certified copy of the entry in the Adopted Children Register should be attached. If there is no such entry, a certified copy of the document showing that the consenting party has parental rights over the infant should be attached; and the description of the consenting party should include the words "by adoption" or "經領養" where appropriate.";
- (g) by repealing note (6);
- (h) in note (7), by repealing ", as mentioned in rule 29 of the Adoption Rules (Cap. 290 sub. leg. A)".

(7)	Schedule	1	is	amended,	in	Form	6 –
(I)	Schedule	1	19	amenucu,	Ш	LOIII	0 –

(a)	by repealing	g "To		of	,"	and	substituting
	"То	of	(1A),,				

- (b) by adding after note (1)
  - "(1A) It is not necessary to serve this notice on the parent of an infant who has given consent in Form 4A unless the hearing is to take place within 3 months from the day on which the form was executed.";
- (c) in note (3)
  - (i) in the English text, by repealing "Form A" where it twice appears and substituting "Section A";
  - (ii) in the English text, by repealing "Form B" where it twice appears and substituting "Section B";
  - (iii) in the Chinese text, by repealing "姓名" and substituting "身分".
- (8) Schedule 1 is amended, in Form 7
  - (a) by repealing "being the mother/father of the infant/" and substituting –

"being the mother/father of the infant/ being the step-parent of the infant/";

- (b) by repealing "appearing to be" and substituting "is";
- (c) by repealing "District Court" and substituting "District Court/High Court";
- (d) by repealing "SCHEDULE TO FORM 7" and substituting "SCHEDULE";
- (e) in the Schedule
  - (i) in note (2)(a), by adding "or" at the end;
  - (ii) in note (2)(b), by repealing everything after "if" and substituting "an entry in respect of the infant has been made in the Adopted Children Register.";

- (f) in note (4), by repealing everything after "where" and substituting "an entry in respect of the infant has been made in the Adopted Children Register.".
- (9) Schedule 1 is amended, in Form 8
  - (a) by repealing "being the mother/father of the infant/" and substituting –

"being the mother/father of the infant/ being the step-parent of the infant/";

- (b) by repealing "District Court" and substituting "District Court/High Court".
- (10) Schedule 1 is amended, in Form 9
  - (a) by adding "/the Hon. Mr. Justice" after "Judge";
  - (b) in Section A, by adding "/Court of First Instance" after "District Court":
  - (c) in note (3)
    - (i) in the English text, by repealing "Form A" where it twice appears and substituting "Section A";
    - (ii) in the English text, by repealing "Form B" where it twice appears and substituting "Section B";
    - (iii) in the Chinese text, by repealing "姓名" and substituting "身分".

# 21. Additional matters subject to investigation and report by guardian ad litem

(1) The Second Schedule is amended by repealing –

[rule 12]"

#### "SCHEDULE 2

[rule 13]".

(2) Schedule 2 is amended, in the Chinese text, in paragraph 15, by repealing "交付與" and substituting "交付予".

#### Chief Justice

## 2005

## **Explanatory Note**

The Adoption Rules (Cap. 290 sub. leg. A) ("the Adoption Rules") provide for the court rules and procedures that relate to local adoption. These Rules amend the Adoption Rules so that intercountry adoptions, other than adoptions made under the Convention on Protection of Children and Co-operation in respect of Intercountry Adoption done at the Hague on 29 May 1993 ("Convention") could also be dealt with under the Adoption Rules.

2. The Adoption Rules as amended by these Rules do not apply to adoptions made under the Convention (new rule 2A of the Adoption Rules as added by rule 3).

- 3. These Rules expressly provide for the manner of service of documents outside Hong Kong (New rule 28 of the Adoption Rules as substituted by rule 16).
- 4. These Rules provide for the procedures for making an application under section 23B of the Adoption Ordinance (Cap. 290) for an order for passing the care and control of an infant with a view to the infant being adopted (new rule 31A of the Adoption Rules as added by rule 19).
- 5. The various forms used in relation to an adoption application as set out in Schedule 1 to the Adoption Rules are being amended so that the forms could be used for both local and intercountry adoptions, other than adoptions made under the Convention (rule 20).

## Annex B

## **CONVENTION ADOPTION RULES**

## **CONTENTS**

Rule		Page
1.	Commencement	4
	PRELIMINARY	
2.	Interpretation	4
3.	Application	4
4.	Notice of intention	4
	COMMENCEMENT OF PROCEEDINGS	
5.	Proceedings to be disposed of in private	5
6.	Form of application	5
7.	Identity of applicant may be kept confidential	5
8.	Previous applications	5
	EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF APPLICATIONS	
9.	Form of statement and consent	6
10.	Time for filing evidence	7
	APPOINTMENT AND DUTIES OF GUARDIAN AD LITEM	
11.	Appointment of guardian ad litem	7
12.	Guardian ad litem to investigate all relevant circumstances	8
13.	Information to be confidential	9

## APPLICATIONS UNDER SECTION 5(5D) OF THE ORDINANCE

14.	Mode of application	9
	APPLICATIONS UNDER SECTION 6(4) OF THE ORDINANCE	
15.	Making and notice of application	11
16.	Dismissal of application for adoption order	11
	APPLICATIONS UNDER SECTION 23B OF THE ORDINANCE	
17.	Application for an order passing care and control of infant	11
	HEARING OF APPLICATIONS	
18.	Appointment for hearing	13
19.	Notice of hearing	13
20.	Appearance to show cause why order should not be made	14
21.	Conduct of proceedings	14
	FORMS AND TRANSMISSION OF ORDERS AND CERTIFICATES	
22.	Forms of order and certificate	15
23.	Copy of order and certificate to be sent to various parties	15
24.	Copy of order and certificate to be given to certain persons only	16
25.	Notification by guardian ad litem of making or refusal of order	16
	AMENDMENT OF ADOPTION ORDERS	
26.	Amendment of adoption orders, and revocation of directions ex parte	16

27.	Notice of amendment to be sent to Registrar of Births and Deaths	17
	APPLICATIONS UNDER SECTIONS 20G AND 20H OF THE ORDINANCE	
28.	Application for direction where Convention adoption is not full adoption	18
29.	Application for non-recognition of Convention adoption on public policy ground	19
	DELEGATION BY DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL WELFARE	
30.	Delegation of powers and duties	20
	SERVICE OF DOCUMENTS	
31.	Service of documents	20
	ATTESTATION OF DOCUMENTS	
32.	Persons who may attest documents and declarations outside Hong Kong	21
	APPLICATION OF PRACTICE OF COURT OF FIRST INSTANCE	
33.	Practice and procedure of Court to apply	22
34.	Court fees	22
Schedule 1	Forms	20
Schedule 2	Additional matters subject to investigation and report by guardian ad litem	39

#### CONVENTION ADOPTION RULES

(Made by the Chief Justice under section 12(1) of the Adoption Ordinance (Cap. 290))

#### 1. Commencement

These Rules shall come into operation on 25 January 2006.

#### **PRELIMINARY**

## 2. Interpretation

- (1) In these Rules, unless the context otherwise requires –
- "adoption application" (領養申請) means an application for a Convention adoption order;
- "adoption certificate" (領養證書) means a Convention adoption certificate;
- "adoption order" (領養令) means a Convention adoption order;
- "applicant" (申請人) includes either, as well as both, of 2 joint applicants;
- "Court" (法院) means the Court of First Instance;
- "guardian ad litem" (訴訟監護人) means a guardian ad litem of an infant for the purposes of the adoption application that relates to the infant.
- (2) Expressions used in these Rules that are defined in Part 5 of the Ordinance shall have the respective meanings assigned to them in that Part.
- (3) A reference to a form described by a combination of an alphabet and a number shall, unless otherwise stated, be construed as a reference to a form so described and set out in Schedule 1.

## 3. Application

These Rules apply only to and in relation to Convention adoption.

## 4. Notice of intention

A notice of intention to apply for an adoption order shall be given in Form C1.

#### COMMENCEMENT OF PROCEEDINGS

## 5. Proceedings to be disposed of in private

All proceedings under the Ordinance relating to Convention adoption are to be disposed of in private.

## 6. Form of application

- (1) An adoption application shall be made to the Court by originating summons in Form C2.
- (2) The proposed adopter shall be the applicant, and the infant shall be the respondent.
  - (3) A copy of the originating summons shall be served on
    - (a) the guardian ad litem and the Director (if he is not the guardian ad litem); or
    - (b) where rule 11(3) applies, the Director.

## 7. Identity of applicant may be kept confidential

- (1) If the proposed adopter desires that his identity shall be kept confidential, he may apply to the Court for a serial number to be assigned to him for the purposes of the adoption application and that number shall be assigned to him accordingly.
- (2) An application under subrule (1) shall be made before the proposed adopter issues an originating summons in Form C2.

## 8. Previous applications

If it appears that the applicant has previously made an application to any court in Hong Kong for the adoption of the same infant ("the previous application"), the adoption application may not proceed unless –

(a) the judge is satisfied that there has been a material change in the circumstances since the previous application; or

(b) the previous application is made in respect of an adoption that is not a Convention adoption and has been withdrawn or disposed of.

#### EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF APPLICATIONS

#### 9. Form of statement and consent

- (1) The evidence in support of an adoption application shall be
  - (a) given by means of a statement by the applicant in Form C3;
  - (b) verified by affidavit.
- (2) Any document signifying the consent of any person to the making of the adoption order shall be exhibited to the affidavit.
- (3) Where the proposed adoption is one in respect of which Hong Kong acts as the State of origin, the consent
  - (a) if given by a parent of the infant, shall be in either Form C4 or Form C5, or in Form 4A in Schedule 1 to the Adoption Rules (Cap. 290 sub. leg. A) (as may be appropriate);
  - (b) if given by
    - (i) a guardian of the infant; or
    - (ii) a person who is liable to contribute to the maintenance of the infant by virtue of any order or agreement,

shall be in Form C4; and

- (c) if given by a spouse of the applicant and
  - (i) the spouse is a parent of the infant, shall be in either Form C4 or Form C5, or in Form 4A in Schedule 1 to the Adoption Rules (Cap. 290 sub. leg. A) (as may be appropriate);

- (ii) the spouse is not a parent of the infant, shall be in Form C4.
- (4) Where the proposed adoption is one in respect of which Hong Kong acts as the receiving State, any document signifying the consent of the spouse of the applicant shall be in Form C4.

## 10. Time for filing evidence

- (1) The statement referred to in rule 9(1) shall be filed within 28 days after the issue of the originating summons in Form C2.
- (2) A copy of the applicant's statement shall be served, at the same time when it is so filed, on
  - (a) the guardian ad litem; and
  - (b) the Director (if he is not the guardian ad litem).

#### APPOINTMENT AND DUTIES OF GUARDIAN AD LITEM

## 11. Appointment of guardian ad litem

- (1) Where
  - (a) the proposed adoption is one in respect of which Hong Kong acts as the State of origin; and
  - (b) the Director has become the guardian ad litem of the infant by virtue of section 5(5F) of the Ordinance,

the Director shall be the guardian ad litem.

- (2) Where subrule (1) is not applicable, subject to subrule (3), the accredited body in Hong Kong who makes arrangements for the adoption of the infant by the applicant shall be the guardian ad litem.
- (3) If the applicant desires that the Director should be appointed to act as the guardian ad litem, then, the originating summons in Form C2
  - (a) must ask for such appointment; and
  - (b) must be supported by an affidavit by the applicant setting out the grounds for asking for such appointment.

- (4) The applicant shall, subject to subrule (5), pay to the Director a fee of \$2,840 in payment of the proper costs of the Director for acting as the guardian ad litem
  - (a) (where subrule (1) applies) on the service of Form C2 on the Director under rule 6; or
  - (b) (where subrule (3) applies) on the Director being appointed by the Court to act as the guardian ad litem.
- (5) The Director may, if he considers it necessary or desirable, waive payment of the fee or any part of it.
- (6) The Court may at any time, where it considers it to be in the interests of the infant, appoint the Official Solicitor to be the guardian ad litem of the infant in place of the Director or the accredited body (as the case may be).

## 12. Guardian ad litem to investigate all relevant circumstances

- (1) The guardian ad litem shall
  - (a) investigate as fully as possible all circumstances relevant to the proposed adoption with a view to safeguarding the interests of the infant before the Court; and
  - (b) make a report to the Court for that purpose.
- (2) Without prejudice to the generality of subrule (1), the guardian ad litem shall
  - (a) make inquiries as to
    - (i) all matters alleged in the applicant's statement; and
    - (ii) the additional matters specified in Schedule 2, and shall report to the Court on them; and
  - (b) interview (either by himself or by an agent appointed by him for the purpose)
    - (i) every applicant;

- (ii) every individual mentioned in the applicant's statement in Form C3 as a person to whom reference may be made;
- (iii) every person on whom notice of the adoption application is required to be served under rule 19; and
- (iv) (where such notice is required to be served on a body of persons) the appropriate officer of such body.

#### 13. Information to be confidential

The guardian ad litem and any agent of his and, where a body of persons is appointed as guardian ad litem, every officer, employee and member of that body –

- (a) shall treat as confidential all information obtained in the course of the investigation; and
- (b) shall not divulge any of the information to any other person except so far as may be necessary for the proper execution of his duty.

## APPLICATIONS UNDER SECTION 5(5D) OF THE ORDINANCE

## 14. Mode of application

- (1) Where the proposed adoption is one in respect of which Hong Kong acts as the State of origin, an application by a parent under section 5(5D) of the Ordinance for an order revoking that parent's consent ("revocation application") shall be made to the Court.
  - (2) The revocation application shall be made
    - (a) where an adoption application is pending, by summons in the adoption proceedings concerned; or

- (b) where paragraph (a) is not applicable, in accordance with rule 14A of the Adoption Rules (Cap. 290 sub. leg. A).
- (3) The Registrar of the High Court shall, after giving such directions (if any) as he thinks necessary, fix a date for the hearing of the revocation application.
- (4) When the date for the hearing has been fixed, the Registrar of the High Court shall serve a copy of the summons on
  - (a) the proposed adopter in the adoption proceedings concerned;
  - (b) the guardian ad litem; and
  - (c) every other person on whom notice has been or will in due course be served under rule 19.
- (5) If a serial number has been assigned to the proposed adopter in the adoption proceedings concerned, then in the revocation application
  - (a) the summons to be served under subrule (4) shall not disclose the identity of that proposed adopter to any other person who is not already aware of that proposed adopter's identity; and
  - (b) the proceedings on the revocation application shall be conducted with a view to securing that that proposed adopter is not seen by or made known to any other person concerned with the application who is not already aware of his identity, except with his consent.
- (6) Where the revocation application is determined, the Registrar of the High Court shall serve notice of the effect of the determination and any order on the applicant of the revocation application and on all the persons served under subrule (4).

## APPLICATIONS UNDER SECTION 6(4) OF THE ORDINANCE

## 15. Making and notice of application

- (1) Where the proposed adoption is one in respect of which Hong Kong acts as the State of origin, an application under section 6(4) of the Ordinance for leave to remove the infant from the care and possession of the applicant shall be made to the judge.
  - (2) A notice of the application shall be served on
    - (a) the guardian ad litem; and
    - (b) the Director (if he is not the guardian ad litem).

## 16. Dismissal of application for adoption order

Where -

- (a) the proposed adoption is one in respect of which Hong Kong acts as the State of origin; and
- (b) leave to remove the infant from the care and possession of the applicant is granted under section 6(4) of the Ordinance,

the judge may, on granting leave, dismiss the adoption application.

## APPLICATIONS UNDER SECTION 23B OF THE ORDINANCE

## 17. Application for an order passing care and control of infant

- (1) An application for an order under section 23B(1) of the Ordinance for passing the care and control of an infant to a person authorized by the Director may be made to the Court by the Director by an ex parte originating summons.
  - (2) The application shall be heard by a judge.
- (3) The application must be supported by an affidavit by the Director that –

- (a) sets out information on the infant's identity, adoptability, background, social environment, family history and medical history;
- (b) sets out details of the person authorized by the Director for the purposes of section 23B(1) of the Ordinance;
- (c) sets out the grounds for the Director's belief that the granting of the order will be in the best interests of the infant; and
- (d) states that the infant is or will be authorized to enter and reside permanently in the Contracting State to which the infant is intended to be sent.
- (4) The following documents shall be exhibited to the affidavit
  - (a) the infant's birth certificate or any other proof of identity;
  - (b) order by which the Director was appointed as the legal guardian of the infant (if applicable);
  - (c) consent of every person whose consent is required by section 5(5)(a) of the Ordinance (if applicable);
  - (d) order declaring that the infant is freed for adoption under section 5A of the Ordinance (if applicable);
  - (e) copy of the infant study report;
  - (f) statement of acceptance for adoption signed by the prospective adopter;
  - (g) copy of the family study and assessment report of the prospective adopter; and
  - (h) letter of assumption of responsibility signed by the person referred to in subrule (3)(b) stating that such person is responsible for the welfare of the infant while the infant is in the Contracting State referred to in subrule (3)(d) and before the infant is adopted.

#### HEARING OF APPLICATIONS

#### 18. Appointment for hearing

- (1) The applicant for an adoption order shall obtain an appointment for the hearing of the adoption application within 14 days after being notified by the guardian ad litem that he has made his report to the Court.
- (2) If no appointment is obtained by the applicant, the guardian ad litem shall obtain an appointment as soon as practicable for the hearing of the adoption application.

#### 19. Notice of hearing

- (1) Subject to subrules (2) and (3), on a date being fixed for the hearing of the adoption application, the guardian ad litem shall serve a notice in Form C6 on
  - (a) (where the proposed adoption is one in respect of which Hong Kong acts as the State of origin) every person whose consent to the making of the adoption order is required under section 5(5) of the Ordinance;
  - (b) (where the proposed adoption is one in respect of which Hong Kong acts as the receiving State) the spouse of the applicant whose consent to the making of the adoption order is required under section 5(5)(b) of the Ordinance; and
  - (c) the Director (if he is not the guardian ad litem).
  - (2) Where the Court is satisfied that
    - (a) any person whose consent to the making of the adoption order is required by section 5(5)(a) or (b) (as the case may be) of the Ordinance cannot be found; and
- (b) all reasonable steps have been taken to trace that person, the Court may, if it thinks fit, dispense with service of the notice under this rule on that person.

- (3) Where the proposed adoption is one in respect of which Hong Kong acts as the State of origin, then, subject to subrule (4), it is not necessary to serve the notice on the parent of an infant who has given consent to an adoption order by way of general consent in Form 4A in Schedule 1 to the Adoption Rules (Cap. 290 sub. leg. A).
- (4) Subrule (3) shall not apply if the hearing of the adoption application is to take place within 3 months from the day on which the form was executed.

## 20. Appearance to show cause why order should not be made

- (1) On the hearing of the adoption application, any person on whom notice is required to be served under rule 19 may appear before the judge to show cause why an adoption order should not be made.
- (2) The Director may be represented by a public officer duly authorized in that behalf by the Director.

#### 21. Conduct of proceedings

- (1) Unless the Court is satisfied that the applicant does not desire his identity to be kept confidential, the proceedings shall be conducted with a view to securing that he is not seen by or made known to any other person whose consent to the order is required, other than the spouse of the applicant.
- (2) Where the proposed adoption is one in respect of which Hong Kong acts as the State of origin, the Court may, if satisfied that there are special circumstances, direct that it is not necessary for either or both of the following persons to attend the hearing of the adoption application
  - (a) the infant;
  - (b) the applicant.
- (3) Except as provided for in subrule (2), the Court shall not issue an adoption order unless the applicant and the infant attend the hearing in person.

(4) The Court may direct any person who is not a party to the application to attend the hearing of the application.

# FORMS AND TRANSMISSION OF ORDERS AND CERTIFICATES

#### 22. Forms of order and certificate

- (1) Unless the Court otherwise orders, an adoption order shall be drawn up in Form C7.
- (2) The Court shall, on the issuance of an adoption order, issue an adoption certificate in Form C8.

# 23. Copy of order and certificate to be sent to various parties

- (1) In this rule and rule 24
  - (a) an adoption order includes an order for the amendment of an adoption order referred to in rule 27(1)(a); and
  - (b) an adoption certificate includes an adoption certificate that is amended under rule 27(3).
- (2) On the making of an adoption order, the Registrar of the High Court shall, within 7 days after the order has been passed and entered
  - (a) send a sealed copy of the order to
    - (i) the Registrar of Births and Deaths;
    - (ii) the applicant;
    - (iii) the guardian ad litem; and
    - (iv) the Director (if he is not the guardian ad litem); and
  - (b) send
    - (i) to the applicant the adoption certificate issued in respect of the order; and
    - (ii) to the Director a copy of the certificate.

# 24. Copy of order and certificate to be given to certain persons only

- (1) Subject to subrule (2), no duplicate or copy of an adoption order or of an adoption certificate shall be given to or served on any person except by order of the judge.
  - (2) The Director may give a copy of the certificate
    - (a) to the Central Authority of a Contracting State;
    - (b) to the accredited body in Hong Kong that makes arrangements for the adoption to which the adoption order relates; and
    - (c) to -
      - (i) the accredited body of a Contracting State; or
      - (ii) the public authority of a Contracting State, that makes arrangements for the adoption to which the adoption order relates.

# 25. Notification by guardian ad litem of making or refusal of order

- (1) If a party was not present when an adoption order was made or refused, the guardian ad litem shall notify the party that the order was made or refused (as the case may be).
- (2) In complying with subrule (1), the guardian ad litem shall not disclose the identity of the applicant unless the applicant does not desire his identity to be kept confidential.

#### AMENDMENT OF ADOPTION ORDERS

# **26.** Amendment of adoption orders, and revocation of directions ex parte

- (1) An application for an order under section 20(1) of the Ordinance for
  - (a) the amendment of an adoption order; or

- (b) the revocation of a direction for the marking of an entry in the registers of births or the Adopted Children Register, may be made ex parte in the Court.
  - (2) Notice of the application must be served on
    - (a) the Director; and
    - (b) such other persons as the Court may think fit.

## 27. Notice of amendment to be sent to Registrar of Births and Deaths

- (1) Where an order is made under section 20(1) of the Ordinance for
  - (a) the amendment of an adoption order; or
  - (b) the revocation of a direction for the marking of an entry in the registers of births or the Adopted Children Register,

the Registrar of the High Court shall send to the Registrar of Births and Deaths a notice that complies with subrule (2).

- (2) The notice must
  - (a) specify
    - (i) the date of the adoption order; and
    - (ii) the names of the adopter and of the adopted person, as described in the schedule to the adoption order; and
  - (b) state the amendments that are to be made to the particulars specified in the order made under section 20(1) of the Ordinance.
- (3) On the issue of an order for the amendment of an adoption order, the Court shall accordingly amend the adoption certificate issued in respect of the adoption order.

#### APPLICATIONS UNDER SECTIONS 20G AND 20H OF THE ORDINANCE

# **28.** Application for direction where Convention adoption is not full adoption

- (1) An application for a direction under section 20G(1) of the Ordinance in respect of a Convention adoption may be made to the Court by originating summons by
  - (a) the adopted child to whom the adoption relates;
  - (b) the adopter to whom the adoption relates;
  - (c) a parent of the adopted child; or
  - (d) any other person.
- (2) Each of the following persons that is not the applicant shall be a respondent to the application
  - (a) the adopter to whom the adoption relates; and
  - (b) each parent of the adopted child.
- (3) For the avoidance of doubt, it is declared that if the adopted child is adopted by 2 persons jointly, "the adopter" in subrules (1)(b) and (2)(a) refers to both of the persons.
  - (4) If the adopted child is not the applicant and
    - (a) the child has evidence to give to the Court that has not been given by any other party; or
- (b) there are other special circumstances, the Court may at any time direct that the child be made a respondent to the application.
  - (5) The Court may at any time direct that
    - (a) a person who does not fall within the description of subrule (2) be made a respondent to the application; or
    - (b) a respondent to the application be removed.
  - (6) If -
    - (a) a direction is given on an application under subrule (1); and

(b) the adoption is a registrable adoption made outside Hong Kong (as defined in section 1(4) of Schedule 1 to the Ordinance),

the Director shall notify the Registrar of the giving of the direction.

# 29. Application for non-recognition of Convention adoption on public policy ground

- (1) An application for a declaration under section 20H(1) of the Ordinance in respect of a Convention adoption may be made to the Court by originating summons by
  - (a) the adopted child to whom the adoption relates;
  - (b) the adopter to whom the adoption relates;
  - (c) a parent of the adopted child;
  - (d) the Director;
  - (e) the accredited body in Hong Kong that made arrangements for the adoption (if applicable); or
  - (f) any other person.
- (2) Each of the following persons that is not the applicant shall be a respondent to the application
  - (a) the adopter to whom the adoption relates; and
  - (b) each parent of the adopted child.
- (3) For the avoidance of doubt, it is declared that if the adopted child is adopted by 2 persons jointly, "the adopter" in subrules (1)(b) and (2)(a) refers to both of the persons.
  - (4) If the adopted child is not the applicant and
    - (a) the child has evidence to give to the Court that has not been given by any other party; or
    - (b) there are other special circumstances,

the Court may at any time direct that the child be made a respondent to the application.

- (5) The Court may at any time direct that
  - (a) a person who does not fall within the description of subrule (2) be made a respondent to the application; or
  - (b) a respondent to the application be removed.
- (6) Where a declaration is made on an application under subrule (1)
  - (a) in the case where the adoption is a registrable adoption made outside Hong Kong (as defined in section 1(4) of Schedule 1 to the Ordinance) the Director shall notify the Registrar of the making of the declaration; and
  - (b) in all cases, the Director may give a copy of the declaration to
    - (i) the Central Authority of a Contracting State; and
    - (ii) either the accredited body or the public body of a Contracting State that made arrangements for the adoption.

# DELEGATION BY DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL WELFARE

#### 30. Delegation of powers and duties

Where the Director is acting under these Rules as guardian ad litem, anything required or authorized by these Rules to be done by the guardian ad litem may be done by a public officer who is duly authorized in that behalf by the Director.

#### SERVICE OF DOCUMENTS

#### 31. Service of documents

- (1) Subject to subrule (2), a document required to be served under these Rules may be served
  - (a) in the case of an individual
    - (i) by delivering it to the individual personally;

- (ii) by leaving it with some person for the individual at the individual's last known address or usual place of abode; or
- (iii) by sending it to the individual by registered post addressed to the individual at the individual's last known address or usual place of abode;
- (b) in the case of the Director
  - (i) by delivering it to him at his principal office; or
  - (ii) by sending it to him by registered post addressed to him at his principal office;
- (c) in the case of a body of persons
  - (i) by delivering it to that body at that body's registered or principal office; or
  - (ii) by sending it to that body by registered post addressed to that body at that body's registered or principal office.
- (2) Where a document is to be served on
  - (a) an individual whose last known address or usual place of abode is in a place outside Hong Kong; or
  - (b) a body of persons whose registered or principal office is in a place outside Hong Kong,

the document must be served in accordance with the law of that place.

#### ATTESTATION OF DOCUMENTS

# 32. Persons who may attest documents and declarations outside Hong Kong

For the purposes of section 7(2) of the Ordinance, a document or declaration executed or made by any person at a place outside Hong Kong is sufficiently attested if it is attested by any person for the time being authorized by law in that place to administer an oath for any judicial or other legal purpose.

## APPLICATION OF PRACTICE OF COURT OF FIRST INSTANCE

## 33. Practice and procedure of Court to apply

Subject to these Rules, the practice and procedure of the Court shall apply to proceedings relating to Convention adoption.

### 34. Court fees

No Court fees shall be charged in adoption proceedings that relate to Convention adoption.

#### **FORMS**

#### FORM C1 [rule 4]

Notice of Intention to apply for a Convention adoption order

#### ADOPTION ORDINANCE

(Chapter 290)

the Adoj	ce is hereby given, in accordance with the provisions of section 5(7) of option Ordinance that both] of
intend to known as	apply for an Order authorizing them to adopt a male/female infant
Date	ed the
Notes: (1)	Enter the full names and addresses (including country of habitual residence) of the applicants.
(2)	Enter the full name in English and in Chinese characters, if any, of the infant.

#### ANNEX TO FORM C1

This Form must be signed either by the applicants or by their

Authorization for Criminal Record Check

To: Commissioner of Police

solicitors.

(3)

In connection with my application for assessment of suitability to be ar
adoptive parent under Section 5AA*/27* of the Adoption Ordinance (Cap. 290)
hereby authorize you, or your designate, to conduct criminal record check or
myself and to inform and release to the Director of Social
Welfare*/ (name of accredited body*) <sup>(1</sup>
(address)
he particulars of my previous conviction(s) (if any) in Hong Kong or elsewhere.

For the purpose of criminal record check, I also agree to attend before a public officer authorized by you, who may take and record my fingerprints for checking against police records.

For the purpose of conducting the criminal record check, please note my particulars as follows –

Name in full (Block letters)
HKID Number
Travel Document Number
Chinese Commercial Code
Date of Birth (Day/month/year)
Place of Birth
Signature of Applicant
Signature of Witness <sup>(2)</sup>
Post title of Witness
Date

#### Notes:

\* Delete as appropriate

- (1) If the proposed adoption is processed by a body of persons accredited for Convention adoption under the Adoption Ordinance (Cap. 290), the applicant may insert the name of the accredited body as the recipient of the information.
- (2) The witness should be a solicitor practising in Hong Kong, a notary public, or a registered social worker working with the Social Welfare Department or an accredited body accredited under the Adoption Ordinance (Cap. 290). Where the proposed adoption is one in respect of which Hong Kong acts as the State of origin, the witness could also be a social worker recognized by the receiving State.

### FORM C2

[rules 6, 7, 10 & 11]

Originating summons on application for a Convention adoption order

20 , No.

# IN THE HIGH COURT OF HONG KONG COURT OF FIRST INSTANCE

		n. Mr. Justice  MATTER OF A.B. (1)	an infant,
		and	
BET ANI	TWE D A. <i>B</i> . (	$A.B.^{(1)}$ of this summons, which is issued on the application of	APPLICANT RESPONDENT  f the applicant <i>C.D.</i> plies for an order –
	[1.	That the Director of Social Welfare be appointed the	•
	<ol> <li>3.</li> </ol>	That the applicant be authorized to adopt <i>A.B.</i>	
	Date	ted the day of	
of who		s summons was taken out by ddress is as stated above.	, solicitors for <i>C.D.</i>
Note	es: (1)	Enter the name(s) and surname which the infant adoption.	is to bear after the

Retain this paragraph if the appointment of a guardian ad litem is

(2)

asked for under rule 11(3).

## FORM C3

[rules 9 & 12]

Statement in support of application for a Convention adoption order (1)

## [Heading as in Form C1]

1. I, the undersigned, $C.D.$ /We, the undersigned, $C.D.$ and $E.D.$ desire to adopt $A.B.$ an infant, under the Adoption Ordinance.
2. I am/We are habitually resident in Hong Kong/(name of foreign country).
3. I am unmarried/a widow/widower/I am married to <i>E.D.</i> of/We are married to each
other and are the persons to whom the attached marriage certificate (or other evidence of marriage) relates.
4. The infant is of the
5. The infant is the child/adopted child of <sup>(3)</sup> <i>F.B.</i> of/whose last known address was/deceased [and <i>G.B.</i> of/whose last known address was/deceased] <sup>(5)</sup>
[6. The guardian of the infant is <i>H.K.</i> of
[7. <i>L.M.</i> (name of putative father if he is required to make payment for the maintenance of the infant) of
8. I/We attach a document/documents signifying the consent of $F.B./G.B./H.K./L.M.$ to the making

of a Convention adoption order on my/our application. [9. I/We request the judge to dispense with the consent of F.B./G.B./*H.K./L.M.* .....<sup>(9)</sup> on the 10. The infant was received into my/our actual custody on the ...... from ..... of ...... and has been continuously in my/our actual custody since that date. the Director of Social Welfare 11. I/We lodged with the ....., notice of my/our intention to apply for a Convention adoption order in respect of the infant. [12. A certificate as to physical and mental health of the infant, signed by a registered medical practitioner on the ..... is attached]<sup>(10)</sup>. 13. I/We have not received or agreed to receive, and no person has made or given or agreed to make or give to me/us, any payment or other reward in consideration of the adoption [except as follows – .....] 14. I have not made/Neither of us has made a previous application for the adoption of the same or any other infant in Hong Kong or elsewhere [except an ....., which was dealt with as follows -.....]. [15. For the purposes of my/our application reference may be made to N.O. [16. I/We desire that my/our identity should be kept confidential, and the or [I/We do not desire that my/our identity should be kept confidential]. 17. Further particulars of myself/ourselves are set out in the annex to this statement. 18. If a Convention adoption order is made in pursuance of my/our

application, it is proposed that the infant should be known as ......

Dated the day of
(Usual signature of applicant/applicants)
ANNEX TO FORM C3
Further particulars of applicant or applicants
Particulars of <i>C.D.</i>
Name in full (Block capitals)
Address
Occupation
Date of Birth
Relationship (if any) to the infant
Particulars of <i>E.D.</i>
Name in full (Block capitals)
Address
Occupation
Date of Birth

Relationship	(if any) to	the infant		•••••	•••••		•••••
			•••••	•••••		•••••	•••••

#### *Notes:*

- (1) This statement must be verified by affidavit, to which the statement, marriage certificate and other documents referred to in the statement should be exhibited.
- (2) Enter the first name(s) and surname as shown in the birth certificate referred to in paragraph 4, if available, otherwise enter name(s) and surname by which the infant was known at the time of the application.
- (3) (a) If the infant has not been adopted, a birth certificate should be attached. If there is no such certificate, a certified copy of the document showing that the persons named in paragraphs 5, 6 and 7 have parental rights over the infant should be attached.
  - (b) If the infant has previously been adopted, do not attach the birth certificate. Instead, a certified copy of the entry in the Adopted Children Register should be attached. If there is no such entry, a certified copy of the document showing that the persons named in paragraphs 5, 6 and 7 have parental rights over the infant should be attached. In any case, the particulars given in paragraph 5 should relate to the parent(s) by adoption.
- (4) Where a birth certificate is not attached, enter the place (including country) of birth if known.
- (5) If the infant is born out of wedlock, the father's name should not be given in this entry; but see paragraph 7.
- (6) This paragraph should be completed only if the infant has a legal guardian other than the father or mother of the infant.
- (7) If the infant is born out of wedlock, enter the name of any person known to the applicant who has been adjudged by an order to be the putative father of the infant or who has acknowledged himself to be the father of the infant and agreed to contribute to his or her maintenance.
- (8) The names to be entered here (and in the following paragraph) are those of the persons named in paragraphs 5, 6 and 7, and (where the application is made by one of two spouses alone) of the spouse of the

applicant.

- (9) This paragraph should be completed with the name of any of the persons mentioned in the previous note who has not signified his or her consent. See sections 6 and 20C(4) of the Adoption Ordinance (Cap. 290).
- (10) This paragraph need not be completed if the applicant or either of the applicants is a "relative" of the infant as defined by section 2 of the Adoption Ordinance (Cap. 290).
- (11) This paragraph need not be completed if the applicant or either of the applicants is a "relative" of the infant as defined by section 2 of the Adoption Ordinance (Cap. 290). Where it is completed more than one referee may be named if desired.
- (12) If the applicant wishes his name to be kept confidential, insert serial number obtained in pursuance of rule 7 of the Convention Adoption Rules (L.N. of 2005).

FORM C4 [rule 9]

# Specific consent to the adoption of an infant named A.B. (1)

Whereas an application is to be made [by $C.D./C.D.$ and $E.D.$ ] <sup>(2)</sup> or [under the serial number];
[Whereas A.B. (hereinafter called the infant) is not less than 4 weeks old, having been born in on the
, and is the person to whom the birth certificate now produced and shown to be marked "A" relates
I, the undersigned
of
the father (3) of the infant/
a guardian of the infant/ a person liable by virtue of any order or agreement to contribute to the maintenance of the infant/
a person (acting on behalf of a body) having parental rights in respect of the infant/
the spouse of <i>C.D.</i> hereby state as follows –
(1) I understand that once the infant is adopted, a permanent parent-child relationship between the adopter and the infant will be created.
(2) I understand that, when the application for a Convention adoption in respect of $A.B.$ is made, this document may be used as evidence of my consent to the adoption $^{(6)}$ .
(3) I hereby consent to the adoption of the infant by $[C.D./C.D.$ and $E.D.$ ].
(Signature)
Signed aton
by

statement and agreed to the placement of the infant for adoption] (4).

Before me (Signature)
(4.11)
(Address)
(Description) <sup>(6)</sup>

#### *Notes:*

- (1) Insert name as known to the consenting party.
- (2) Where the name of applicant is not known to the consenting party, and a serial number has been obtained for the application under rule 7 of the Convention Adoption Rules (L.N. of 2005), complete the entry contained in the second square brackets.
- (3) (a) If the infant has not been adopted, a birth certificate should be attached. If there is no such certificate, a certified copy of the document showing that the consenting party has parental rights over the infant should be attached.
  - (b) If the infant has previously been adopted, do not attach the birth certificate. Instead, a certified copy of the entry in the Adopted Children Register should be attached. If there is no such entry, a certified copy of the document showing that the consenting party has parental rights over the infant should be attached; and the description of the consenting party should include the words "by adoption" or "經領養" where appropriate.
- (4) Delete the words in square brackets except where the consenting party is the mother of the infant.
- (5) Delete all but one of the description which follow.
- (6) The document will not be admissible as evidence unless the signature is attested by a commissioner for oaths (or, if executed at a place outside Hong Kong, by any person for the time being authorized by law in that place to administer an oath for any judicial or other legal purpose). In all cases the document if so attested will be admissible without further proof of execution.

FORM C5 [rule 9]

# Specific consent to the adoption of an infant named A.B. (1) by a step-parent (as sole applicant)

Whereas an application (by a sole applicant) is to be made (by being the step-parent of the
nfant] or [ <sup>(2)</sup> under the serial number];
[Whereas the infant is not less than 4 weeks old, having been born in on the; and
is the person to whom the birth certificate <sup>(3)</sup> now produced and shown to be marked "A" relates] <sup>(4)</sup> –
I, the undersigned,
ofbeing
the father/mother* of the infant [as well as the spouse of the applicant
(1) I understand that once the infant is adopted, a permanent parent-child relationship between the adopter and the infant will be created.
(2) I understand that, when the application for a Convention adoption in respect of the infant is made, this document may be used as evidence of my consent to the adoption <sup>(6)</sup> .
(3) I hereby consent to the adoption of the infant by
(Signature)
Signed at
who satisfied me that he/she* fully understood the nature of the foregoing statement and the effect of the infant being adopted by
Before me (Signature)

(Address)	•••••	•••••

\* Delete as appropriate

\_\_\_\_\_\_

#### Notes:

- (1) Insert name as known to the consenting party.
- (2) Where a serial number has been obtained for the application under rule 7 of the Convention Adoption Rules (L.N. of 2005), complete the entry contained in the second square brackets.
- (3) (a) If the infant has not been adopted, a birth certificate should be attached. If there is no such certificate, a certified copy of the document showing that the consenting party has parental rights over the infant should be attached.
  - (b) If the infant has previously been adopted, do not attach the birth certificate. Instead, a certified copy of the entry in the Adopted Children Register should be attached. If there is no such entry, a certified copy of the document showing that the consenting party has parental rights over the infant should be attached; and the description of the consenting party should include the words "by adoption" or "經領養" where appropriate.
- (4) Delete the words in square brackets except where the consenting party is the mother of the infant.
- (5) Delete the words in square brackets except where the consenting party is the spouse of the applicant.
- (6) The document will not be admissible as evidence unless the signature is attested by a commissioner for oaths (or, if executed at a place outside Hong Kong, by any person for the time being authorized by law in that place to administer an oath for any judicial or other legal purpose). In all cases the document if so attested will be admissible without further proof of execution.

FORM C6	[rule 19]
---------	-----------

No	otice of hearing of application for a Convention adoption order in respect of an infant named $A.B.^{(1)}$
То	of <sup>(2)</sup> .
	reas an application has been made [by <i>C.D./C.D.</i> and <i>E.D.</i> ] <sup>(3)</sup> or [under number];
	whereas I, of ardian ad litem of the infant;
Take	notice –
Court, Ho the hour or and that y	[That the application will be heard at the Court of First Instance, High ong Kong on the
order, you order that	[That if you do not consent to the making of the Convention adoption should notify me on or before, in a date and time may be fixed for you to attend and show cause why should not be made. The form below may be detached and used for se.]
Dated	I the day of
	(Signature of guardian ad litem)
Notes: (1)	Enter the name(s) and surname as known to the person to whom the notice is given and also any other name(s) by which the infant is known.
(2)	It is not necessary to serve this notice on –
	(a) (where the adoption is one in respect of which Hong Kong acts as the receiving State) the parent of the infant; or

- (b) (where the adoption is one in respect of which Hong Kong acts as the State of origin) the parent of the infant who has given consent in Form 4A of Schedule 1 to the Adoption Rules (Cap. 290 sub. leg. A) unless the hearing is to take place within 3 months from the day on which the form was executed.
- (3) The name of the applicant must not be given where the notice is addressed to an individual and a serial number is specified in Form C3 (paragraph 16). In that case, complete the second entry in square brackets.
- (4) Section A must be completed and Section B must be struck out where the applicant does not desire his identity to be kept confidential (see Form C3, paragraph 16). Where a serial number is specified in that paragraph, Section A must be struck out and Section B must be completed.

completed		
		Perforation
(If the Director	r of S	Welfare, Hong Kong. ocial Welfare is not the guardian ad litem, the should be substituted).
I have received adoption order in resp	pect of	of the hearing of the application for a Convention <i>A.B.</i> an infant.  I consent to the making of this order.
Delete (a) or (b).	(b)	or I do not consent to the making of this order and I wish a date and time to be fixed for my attendance when I may state my case.
(Signatur	e)	
(Date)	•••••	(Address)

FORM C7 [rule 22]

## Convention adoption order in respect of an infant

## [Heading as in Form C1]

at . Con	Application upationvention adoptio /her/them to adoptio;	n order un	nder the	[and Adoption	$\dots$ and $E.D$ . Ordin	habitual his wi ance, a	lly resid fe] for authoriz	ent a ing
beer	And <i>A.B.</i> being married;	of the			sex,	and ne	ver hav	ing
	being the s being a rel [both a having att	nt/one of the a mother/father step-parent of lative of the i applicants] ha ained the ag	of the infant f the infant nfant with aving attain e of 25 ye	/ in the mea ned the age	e of 21	years/		
	[And the names							
and of b	[And it having be tical with A.B., to made on the irths in the registrates;]	whom the e	ntry numb	ered		, in th	 ne regist	ers
the .	And the [pr	obable] <sup>(3)</sup> d	late of	the birt	h of	the	infant	is ;
date	[And the infant d thered in the Adopte							
with	And all the cons	ents required	by the Or	dinance be	eing obt	ained or	r dispens	sed

It is ordered that the applicant/applicants be authorized to adopt the infant;
[And the following payment or reward is sanctioned –
[And as regards costs it is ordered that –
And it is directed that the Registrar of Births and Deaths shall make in the Adopted Children Register an entry recording the Convention adoption in accordance with the particulars set out in the Schedule to this order;
[And it is further directed that the Registrar of Births and Deaths shall cause the entry in the registers of births to be marked with the word "adopted" or the words "受領養";]
[And it is further directed that the Registrar of Births and Deaths shall cause the previous entry in the Adopted Children Register relating to the infant to be marked with the word "re-adopted" or the words "再受領養".]
Dated the day of
Registrar, High Court

#### **SCHEDULE**

1.	Date <sup>(5)</sup> and country of birth of child	
2.	Surname and name of child <sup>(6)</sup>	
3.	Sex of child	
4.	Surname and name, address and occupation of adopter(s)	
5.	Date of the Convention adoption order	

#### Notes:

- (1) Delete where there is no change of name.
- (2) Delete this entry
  - (a) if the infant is not identified with a person whose birth is registered in the registers of births; or
  - (b) if an entry in respect of the infant has been made in the Adopted Children Register.
- (3) Delete "probable" where the precise date of the infant's birth is proved.
- (4) Delete except where an entry in respect of the infant has been made in the Adopted Children Register.
- (5) Where a probable date of birth is specified in the body of the order, enter that date without qualification. If the infant is one of twins, include, if possible, the hour as well as the date of birth.
- (6) Where there is a change, enter only the name by which the infant is to be known.

FORM C8 [rule 22]

# CERTIFICATE OF CONFORMITY OF INTERCOUNTRY ADOPTION

Article 23 of the Hague Convention of 29 May 1993 on Protection of Children and Co-operation in respect of Intercountry Adoption

1.		undersigned authority:  me and address of the competent authority of the State of adoption)
	•••••	
	•••••	
2.	Her	eby certifies that the child:
	Fan	nily name:
		t name(s):
		: Male [ ] Female [ ]
	Date	e of birth: day month year
		ee of birth:
	Hab	itual residence:
3.	Was	s adopted according to the decision of the following authority:
		e of the decision:
	Date	e at which the decision became final:
4.	Byt	the following person(s):
	(a)	Family name of the adoptive father:
	` /	First name(s):
		Date of birth: day month year
		Place of birth:
		Habitual residence at the time of the adoption:
	(b)	Family name of the adoptive mother:
		First name(s):

		Date of birth: day month year  Place of birth:
	acco	undersigned authority certifies that the adoption was made in rdance with the Convention and that the agreements under Article 17, paragraph $c$ , were given by:
	(a)	Name and address of the Central Authority <sup>(1)</sup> of the State of origin:
	(b)	Date of the agreement:  Name and address of the Central Authority <sup>(1)</sup> of the receiving State:  Date of the agreement:
6.	[ ]	The adoption had the effect of terminating the pre-existing legal parent-child relationship.
	[ ]	The adoption did not have the effect of terminating the pre-existing legal parent-child relationship.
Done	at	, on
		Signature/Seal

Note:

(1) Or the public authority or accredited body referred to in Article 22(1) of the Convention.

#### **SCHEDULE 2**

[rule 12]

# ADDITIONAL MATTERS SUBJECT TO INVESTIGATION AND REPORT BY GUARDIAN AD LITEM

#### PART 1

#### THE APPLICANT

- 1. In the case of a joint application, how long the applicants have been married.
- 2. In the case of an application by one only of 2 spouses
  - (a) whether the other spouse consents to the application; and
  - (b) why he or she does not join in the application.
- 3. What other children (including adopted children) the applicant has.
- 4. What is the age and sex of all children living in the home of the applicant, and what is their relationship to the applicant.
- 5. What number of living rooms and bedrooms are contained in the home of the applicant, and what is the condition of the home.
- 6. What are the means of the applicant.
- 7. Whether the applicant suffers or has suffered from any serious illness, and whether there is any history of tuberculosis, epilepsy or mental illness in his or her family.
- 8. Whether any person specified in the applicant's statement as a person to whom reference may be made is a responsible person and recommends the applicant without reservation.
- 9. Whether the applicant understands that a Convention adoption order is irrevocable and that the order if made will render him or her responsible for the maintenance and upbringing of the infant.

#### PART 2

THE INFANT

- 10. Whether the infant has any right to or interest in any property.
- 11. Whether the infant (if of an age to understand the effect of a Convention adoption order) wishes the order to be made.

#### PART 3

#### THE PARENTS

- 12. Whether the mother consents to the adoption and identifies the birth certificate (if any) attached to the applicant's statement as the birth certificate of the infant.
- 13. Whether the father consents to the adoption.
- 14. If the infant is born out of wedlock, whether an order has been made adjudging any person to be the putative father of the infant, or an agreement to contribute to the maintenance of the infant has been made by a person acknowledging himself to be the father of the infant, and in either case whether that person consents to the adoption.
- 15. When did the parent or parents part with the infant, and to whom.
- 16. What are the reasons of the parent or parents for consenting to the adoption, and whether his or their consent is given without pressure from other persons.
- 17. Whether the parent, or each of the parents, understands that a Convention adoption order is irrevocable, and that the order if made will deprive him or her of all rights in respect of the maintenance and upbringing of the infant.
- 18. Where the applicant's statement requests the judge to dispense with the consent of the parent, or either of the parents, on the ground that he or she cannot be found, what steps have been taken to trace him or her.

#### Chief Justice

#### 2005

#### **Explanatory Note**

These Rules are made to provide for the court rules and procedures for handling adoptions to be made –

- (a) under the Adoption Ordinance (Cap. 290) ("the Ordinance") and
- (b) in accordance with the Convention on Protection of Children and Co-operation in respect of Intercountry Adoption done at the Hague on 29 May 1993 ("the Convention").
- 2. Rule 3 makes it clear that these Rules apply only to an adoption to which the Convention applies.
- 3. Rules 4 and 6 provide for the procedures to be followed for making an adoption application.
- 4. Rules 9 and 10 set out the documents that must be submitted to the Court of First Instance in support of an adoption application and the timing for filing such documents.
- 5. Rules 11 and 12 deal with the appointment of a guardian ad litem and the duties of such guardian, which includes investigating all circumstances relevant to the proposed adoption.

- 6. Rule 17 sets out the procedures for making an application under section 23B of the Ordinance for an order for passing the care and control of an infant with a view to the infant being adopted.
- 7. Rules 18, 19, 20 and 21 deal with the hearing of the adoption application and the conduct of the adoption proceedings.
- 8. Rules 22, 23 and 24 provide for the respective forms of the Convention adoption order and Convention adoption certificate and the parties to whom copies of such order and certificate could be given.
- 9. Rule 28 provides for the procedure for an application under section 20G of the Ordinance for a direction that an adoption is not to be recognized as a full adoption.
- 10. Rule 29 provides for the procedure for making an application for a declaration under section 20H of the Ordinance for non-recognition of an adoption on public policy ground.
- 11. Schedule 1 provides for the forms to be used in relation to an adoption application and the forms for the adoption order and the adoption certificate. Schedule 2 provides for the additional matters that are subject to investigation by the guardian ad litem.

## INTERCOUNTRY ADOPTION (CONTRACTING STATES) ORDER

(Made by the Secretary for Health, Welfare and Food under section 20D of the Adoption Ordinance (Cap. 290))

#### 1. Commencement

This Order shall come into operation on 25 January 2006.

#### 2. Contracting States

- (1) It is hereby declared that
  - (a) a State specified in column 1 of Part 1 of the Schedule is a Contracting State; and
  - (b) a State specified in column 1 of Part 2 of the Schedule is a Contracting State in respect of the corresponding territorial unit or units specified in column 2 of Part 2 of the Schedule.
- (2) The date of the coming into effect of the Convention between Hong Kong and a State specified in column 1 of the Schedule is the date set out opposite to that State in column 2 of Part 1 or column 3 of Part 2 (as the case may be) of the Schedule.

## SCHEDULE [s. 2]

## LIST OF CONTRACTING STATES

## PART 1

## Column 1 Column 2

Contracting States	Date of coming into effect of the Convention
The Republic of Albania	25 January 2006
The Principality of Andorra	25 January 2006
The Republic of Austria	25 January 2006
The Azerbaijani Republic	25 January 2006
The Republic of Belarus	25 January 2006
The Kingdom of Belgium	25 January 2006
The Republic of Bolivia	25 January 2006
The Federative Republic of Brazil	25 January 2006
The Republic of Bulgaria	25 January 2006
The Burkina Faso	25 January 2006
The Republic of Burundi	25 January 2006
The Republic of Chile	25 January 2006
The Republic of Colombia	25 January 2006
The Republic of Costa Rica	25 January 2006
The Republic of Cyprus	25 January 2006
The Czech Republic	25 January 2006
The Kingdom of Denmark	25 January 2006
The Republic of Ecuador	25 January 2006
The Republic of El Salvador	25 January 2006

The Republic of Estonia	25 January 2006
The Republic of Finland	25 January 2006
Georgia	25 January 2006
The Federal Republic of Germany	25 January 2006
The Republic of Guatemala	25 January 2006
The Republic of Guinea	25 January 2006
The Republic of Hungary	25 January 2006
The Republic of Iceland	25 January 2006
The Republic of India	25 January 2006
The State of Israel	25 January 2006
The Republic of Italy	25 January 2006
The Republic of Latvia	25 January 2006
The Republic of Lithuania	25 January 2006
The Grand Duchy of Luxembourg	25 January 2006
The Republic of Madagascar	25 January 2006
The Republic of Malta	25 January 2006
The Republic of Mauritius	25 January 2006
The United States of Mexico	25 January 2006
The Republic of Moldova	25 January 2006
The Principality of Monaco	25 January 2006
Mongolia	25 January 2006
The Kingdom of the Netherlands	25 January 2006
New Zealand	25 January 2006
The Kingdom of Norway	25 January 2006
The Republic of Panama	25 January 2006
The Republic of Paraguay	25 January 2006
The Republic of Peru	25 January 2006
The Republic of the Philippines	25 January 2006
The Republic of Poland	25 January 2006

The Portuguese Republic	25 January 2006
Romania	25 January 2006
The Republic of San Marino	25 January 2006
The Slovak Republic	25 January 2006
The Republic of Slovenia	25 January 2006
The Republic of South Africa	25 January 2006
The Kingdom of Spain	25 January 2006
The Democratic Socialist Republic	25 January 2006
of Sri Lanka	
The Kingdom of Sweden	25 January 2006
The Swiss Confederation	25 January 2006
The Kingdom of Thailand	25 January 2006
The Republic of Turkey	25 January 2006
The Oriental Republic of Uruguay	25 January 2006
The Republic of Venezuela	25 January 2006

## PART 2

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3
	Territorial unit or units in	
	respect of which a	
	declaration has been made	Date of coming into
	under Article 45 of the	effect of the
Contracting States	Convention	Convention
The Commonwealth of	All the territorial units of	25 January 2006
Australia	Australia	
Canada	Alberta	25 January 2006

	British Columbia	25 January 2006
	Manitoba	25 January 2006
	New Brunswick	25 January 2006
	Newfoundland and Labrador	25 January 2006
	Northwest Territories	25 January 2006
	Nova Scotia	25 January 2006
	Nunavut	25 January 2006
	Ontario	25 January 2006
	Prince Edward Island	25 January 2006
	Quebec	1 February 2006
	Saskatchewan	25 January 2006
	Yukon Territory	25 January 2006
The French Republic	The whole of the territory of	25 January 2006
	the French Republic, with	
	the exception of its	
	overseas territories	
The United Kingdom	England	25 January 2006
of Great Britain and	Wales	25 January 2006
Northern Ireland	Scotland	25 January 2006
	Northern Ireland	25 January 2006
	Isle of Man	25 January 2006

### **Explanatory Note**

This Order declares that each of the States specified in the Order is a Contracting State so that the Convention on Protection of Children and Cooperation in respect of Intercountry Adoption done at the Hague on 29 May 1993 ("Convention") shall apply to an adoption between Hong Kong and a Contracting State in relation to an application made under the Convention.

#### CONVENTION ADOPTION (EXCLUSION) ORDER

(Made by the Secretary for Health, Welfare and Food under section 20J of the Adoption Ordinance (Cap. 290))

#### 1. Commencement

This Order shall come into operation on 25 January 2006.

# 2. Adoptions that are excluded from the meaning of "Convention adoption"

It is hereby declared that adoptions made in accordance with an agreement concluded by application of paragraph 2 of Article 39 of the Convention shall be excluded from the meaning of "Convention adoption" for the purposes of the Ordinance.

Secretary for Health, Welfare and Food

2005

#### **Explanatory Note**

Under paragraph 2 of Article 39 of the Convention on Protection of Children and Co-operation in respect of Intercountry Adoption done at the Hague on 29 May 1993 ("Convention"), a Contracting State may enter into an agreement that derogate from certain provisions of the Convention. This Order declares that adoptions made in accordance with such an agreement shall be excluded from the meaning of "Convention adoption" as defined in section 20A(1) of the Adoption Ordinance (Cap. 290) as added by section 25 of the Adoption (Amendment) Ordinance 2004 (28 of 2004).

## Annex E

## ADOPTION (AMENDMENT) ORDINANCE 2004 (COMMENCEMENT) NOTICE

Under section 1(2) of the Adoption (Amendment) Ordinance 2004 (28 of 2004), I appoint 25 January 2006 as the day on which the Ordinance shall come into operation.

Secretary for Health, Welfare and Food

2005

# Implications of the Proposals relating to the Subsidiary Legislation of the Adoption Ordinance

#### FINANCIAL AND CIVIL SERVICE IMPLICATIONS

The legislative proposals set out the changes in technical requirements and procedures pursuant to the Adoption (Amendment) Ordinance 2004.

- 2. Since there are little procedural changes for local adoptions as a result of the introduction of the Adoption (Amendment) Rules 2005, we do not expect that this will bring significant financial or staffing implications for the enforcement parties, including Judiciary, the Social Welfare Department, Immigration Department and the Police.
- 3. The rules and procedures in the Convention Adoption Rules are similar to those in the Adoption Rules. We therefore do not expect significant financial or staffing implication arising from the introduction of this new set of Rules either, though the Social Welfare Department and, to a lesser extent, the Judiciary, may have to incur slightly more costs in its liaison with overseas parties for Convention adoptions.
- 4. In any case, any recurrent resource implications from the legislative proposals will be absorbed by the relevant parties.